
1 

 

 
 

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING NOTICE/AGENDA 

 

July 11, 2023, 7:00 pm 
 

RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER, COUNCIL CHAMBERS  

6101 CAPULINA AVENUE, MORTON GROVE, IL 60053  
  

In accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act, all Village Board and Commission meetings are open to the 

public. This meeting can be viewed remotely via the live stream link found at: www.mortongroveil.org/stream. (If 

an Executive Session is placed on the agenda, the meeting shall commence at 6:00 pm and the time between 6:00 

pm and 7:00 pm shall be used for the Executive Session per 1-5-7A of the Village of Morton Grove Municipal 

Code. If the Agenda does not include an Executive Session, the meeting will begin at 7:00 pm.)  
 

1. Call to Order 

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

3. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting – June 27, 2023 

 

4. Special Reports  

 

5. Public Hearings – None 

 

6. Plan Commission Reports –  

a. PC 23-11 - Request for approval of a final plat of subdivision for the property 

commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New 

England Avenue, and property vacated under Cook County document number 

2310257013 – Presented by Anne Kirchner, Assistant Land Use Planner 

 

7. Residents’ Comments (agenda items only) 

 

8. President’s Report – Administration, Comprehensive Plan, Council of Mayors, 

Northwest Municipal Conference, Strategic Plan Committee 

 

9. Clerk’s Report – Condominium Association, Strategic Plan Committee 

 

10. Staff Report  

 

a. Village Administration 

 

b. Corporation Counsel 

 

11. Reports by Trustees  

http://www.mortongroveil.org/stream


 2 

a. Trustee Khan – Finance Department, Appearance Commission, Capital Projects, 

French Market, Lehigh/Ferris TIF (Trustee Travis)    

  

b. Trustee Minx – Fire Department, Fire Pension Board, Fire & Police Commission, 

Special Events Commission, RED Center, NIPSTA (Trustee Thill)   

  

c. Trustee Shiba – Building Department, Environment & Natural Resources 

Commission, Legal Department, IT Department (Trustee Witko)  

  

d. Trustee Thill – Public Works Department, SWANCC (Solid Waste Agency of 

Northern Cook County), MG-Niles Water Commission, Traffic Safety Commission 

(Trustee Minx)   

 

1. Resolution 23-28: Authorizing Contract with Peter Baker and Son 

Company for 2023 Street Patching Program  

  

e. Trustee Travis – Police Department, Police Pension Board, Fire & Police  

Commission, Community Relations Commission, (Trustee Khan)    

  

f. Trustee Witko – Community & Economic Development Department, Economic  

Development Commission, Plan Commission/ Zoning Board (Trustee Shiba) 

 

1. Ordinance 23-16 (Introduced July 11, 2023) (First Reading): Approving a 

Final Plat of Subdivision for a Minor Subdivision at 8833 Waukegan Road, 

6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New England Avenue, and Property Vacated 

Under Cook County Document Number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, 

Illinois  

 

12. Other Business 

13. Presentation of Warrants - $540,255.05 

14. Residents’ Comments 

15.  Adjournment 



   

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT 
AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
JUNE 27, 2023 

 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
  

 I.  
 

Village President Dan DiMaria convened the Regular Meeting of the Village Board at 7:00 p.m.  
in the Council Chambers of Village Hall.   
 
 

II. Village Clerk Eileen Harford called the roll. Present were Trustees Saba Khan, Rita Minx,  
Ashur Shiba, John Thill, Connie Travis, and Janine Witko.  
 
 

III. 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Trustee Minx moved to approve the Minutes of the June 13, 2023 Village Board Meeting as  
presented. Trustee Khan seconded the motion.  Motion passed unanimously via voice vote.  
 
 
Mayor DiMaria thanked Trustee Witko for serving as President pro-tem at the meeting on 
June 13. 
 
 

IV. SPECIAL REPORTS 
 

NONE 
 
 

V. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

NONE 
 
 

VI. PLAN COMMISSION REPORTS 
 

NONE 
 
 

  



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 2

VII. 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS (Agenda Items Only) 
 

NONE 
 

 
VIII. 

 
1. 

 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 
 

3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 

4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
Mayor DiMaria had several appointments to make this evening to the Economic Development 
Commission.  He asked for the Board’s concurrence to appoint Azar Khounani and Mary O’Connor 
to the Commission, each for a three-year term. 
 
Trustee Thill moved to concur with these appointments, seconded by Trustee Travis.  
Motion passed unanimously via voice vote. 
 
 
Mayor DiMaria then sought Board concurrence with his appointment of Marc Fernandez as  
Chair of the Economic Development Commission. Trustee Minx so moved, seconded by  
Trustee Witko. Motion passed unanimously via voice vote. 
 
Mayor DiMaria thanked the Board for approving these appointments. 
 
 
Next, Mayor DiMaria called Michael Lukich to the podium to swear him in as the Village’s new 
Public Works Director. After administering the oath, the Board congratulated the new Director. 
 
 
Mayor DiMaria announced that Morton Grove Days is coming up, starting this Saturday, July 1 and 
continuing through Tuesday, July 4. Morton Grove Days is a celebration of country and community 
spirit featuring a carnival, live music, parade, fireworks, food, a beer garden, and loads of family 
entertainment. He encouraged the assemblage to celebrate the Fourth of July weekend at 
Morton Grove Days. Visit mortongrovedays.org for the schedule of events and to learn about the 
many volunteer opportunities that are available. Details are also available on the Village’s website 
and in the issue of the Village newsletter which was delivered early this week to all residents. 
 
Mayor DiMaria encouraged people to volunteer for this four-day event, noting that, for various  
reasons, volunteers were scarce this year. He said, “This is a great way for people to support the 
community plus spend a few hours with their neighbors! Any amount of time you’re willing to 
commit would be appreciated, and the volunteer coordinators will be work with your schedule.”  
 
 
Mayor DiMaria noted that National Night Out is Tuesday, August 1, from 5:30 to 8:30 pm in the 
parking lot of the American Legion Memorial Civic Center. This is a free event hosted by the MG 
Police Department to help enhance relationships between residents and law enforcement, while 
fostering a greater sense of community. Entertainment and refreshments will be available. 
 
 
 



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 3

VIII. 
 

5. 
 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT (continued) 
 
Mayor DiMaria closed his report with strong words of encouragement for people to come out and 
support the Morton Grove Days event. He said he has every faith in Village staff, especially Fire 
and Police personnel, and he knows they are prepared in order to ensure that everyone have an 
enjoyable and safe weekend. He said, “Let’s put last year’s crap behind us!” adding that we should 
also keep the people of Highland Park in our minds. It’s not going to be as easy this year for them 
as it will be for us. 
 
 

IX. 
 
 
 

CLERK’S REPORT 
 
Clerk Harford had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

X. 
 

A. 
 
 

STAFF REPORTS 
 
Village Administrator: 
 
Village Administrator Czerwinski had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
B. 

 

 
Corporation Counsel: 
 
Corporation Counsel Liston had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

XI. 
 

A. 
 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS 
 

Trustee Khan: 
 
Trustee Khan had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
B. 

 
 

 
Trustee Minx: 
 
Trustee Minx had no formal report this evening.  
 
 

 
C. 

 
1. 

 
 

 
Trustee Shiba: 
 
Trustee Shiba presented Ordinance 23-15, Authorizing the Renewal of a Non-Exclusive Cable 
Television Franchise Agreement by and between Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC and the Village of 
Morton Grove. 



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 4

XI. 
 

C. 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 

Trustee Shiba: (continued) 
 
This is the second reading of this Ordinance. 
 
Trustee Shiba said this Ordinance will authorize the Village to renew its non-exclusive cable  
television franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC. He provided some background on 
this matter: 
 
On September 1, 1979, Ordinance 79-42 granted Continental Cablevision, Inc., which later became 
Media One of Northern Illinois, Inc., a fifteen-year non-exclusive cable television franchise to  
operate a cable television system with the Village with an option to extend the agreement for an 
additional five years. Pursuance to Ordinance 98-17, the Village entered into a renewed fifteen- 
year non-exclusive cable television franchise agreement with Media One. Pursuant to  
Ordinance 02-25, this agreement was transferred to its successor Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC. On 
June 24, 2013, the Village entered into a ten-year franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI 
pursuant to Ordinance 13-06. This proposed ordinance renews the Village’s non-exclusive  
franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC to provide cable television services within the 
Village for an additional ten-year period. 
 
Trustee Shiba moved to adopt Ordinance 23-15, seconded by Trustee Witko. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
Trustee Shiba encouraged residents to participate in this ongoing Village activity: 
 

 2023 Crayon & Marker Recycling Program: This program continues with  
collection points at Village Hall and the Library until June 30, 2023.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

D. 
 

1. 
 
 
 

 
Prior to Trustee Thill’s report, Mayor DiMaria noted that the Agenda contained on a typo in which 
the Resolution Trustee Thill will present shows an incorrect title. He will be reporting on  
Resolution 23-27, not Resolution 23-26. 
 
 
Trustee Thill: 
 
Trustee Thill presented Resolution 23-27, Authorizing a Contract Extension with Al Warren Oil 
Company, Inc. Through the Suburban Purchasing Cooperative for the Annual Purchase of 
Gasoline and Diesel Fuel. 
 



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 5

XI. 
 

D. 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 

Trustee Thill: (continued) 
 
The Village participates in the Northwest Municipal Conference’s Suburban Purchasing 
Cooperative (“SPC”), a joint purchasing program in which gasoline and diesel fuel is competitively 
bid for multiple communities. Resolution 21-05 authorized the Village to purchase gasoline and 
diesel fuel from Al Warren Oil Company, Inc. of Hammond, IN, under SPC Contract #198. 
Resolution 22-14 authorized the Village to extend this contract through July 5, 2023. In March of 
2023, the SPC extended Contract #198 through July 5, 2024, and reserved the right to extend the 
contract for an additional one-year term under the same terms and conditions of the original 
contract. This Resolution will authorize the Village Administrator to extend its contract for the 
purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel from Al Warren Oil Company, Inc. through July 5, 2024, and 
further authorizes the Village Administrator to extend the contract for one additional year 
without further Board action if Contract #198 is so extended by the SPC, and if said contract 
extension is warranted by the then existing circumstances. 
 
Trustee Thill moved to approve Resolution 23-27, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
Trustee Thill noted that the Village has planted 95 trees on parkways. He asked residents who had 
one of these new trees to please water the new tree with 10 gallons of water or by turning the  
hose on the tree for about two full minutes. The Village is also watering these trees, but 
Trustee Thill pointed out that in these drought conditions, the trees need all the help they can get. 
Trustee Thill also cautioned homeowners about having their lawn go right up to the tree. He said 
repeated banging on the tree with a lawn mower will kill the tree, and, if a homeowner chooses to 
use compost around the tree, Trustee Thill said do not pack the compost close around the tree. 
Compost holds moisture and this will rot the tree.  
 
 
Lastly, Trustee Thill emphasized that fireworks are illegal. He said he hoped the MGPD would 
ticket those shooting off fireworks, since it’s often the same families or same backyards year after 
year. He said fireworks could be particularly hazardous this year, since we are in a drought. 
 
 

 
E. 

 
1. 

 
 
 

 
Trustee Travis: 
 
Trustee Travis reminded those who have adopted a Summer Planter to please check on the plants 
and water them when you have the chance to do so. Even though the Village waters them, they 
could use more. 
 



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 6

XI. 
 

E. 
 

2. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Travis: (continued) 
 
Trustee Travis also reminded everyone that the Summer Photo Contest is underway. Please submit 
your photographs of people having fun in Morton Grove by September 4 (Labor Day). 
 
 

 
F. 

 
1. 

 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. 
 
 

 
Trustee Witko: 
 
Trustee Witko presented Ordinance 23-14, Approving a Text Amendment to Establish 
Regulations Relating to Moving and Storage Facilities in Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
This is the second reading of this Ordinance. 
 
She explained that this Ordinance approves a Text Amendment that defines “moving and storage 
facilities,” authorizes the use in the manufacturing districts, and establishes use standards and 
off-street parking requirements. 
 
Due to concerns raised by trustees at the last meeting, Trustee Witko said staff has modified the 
text amendment to require a Special Use Permit for uses over 20,000 square feet. 
 
Trustee Witko moved, seconded by Trustee Travis, to adopt Ordinance 23-14. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
Trustee Thill thanked Village Staff for taking the Board’s concerns into consideration and 
modifying the text amendment. 
 
 

XII. 
 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Mayor DiMaria congratulated Fire Chief Ralph Ensign on getting a hole-in-one last week. He noted 
that getting a hole-in-one is extremely rare, unless you’re Arnold Palmer, who got 17 of them! He 
told Chief Ensign, “let us know when you get the other 16 and we’ll have a cake for you!” 

 
 

  



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 7

XIII. 
 
 
 
 

WARRANTS 
 
Trustee Khan presented the Warrant Register for June 27, 2023 in the amount of $399,886.31.  
She moved to approve the Warrant Register as presented, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 

XIV. 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS 
 
Rudy Vilk said this isn’t personal and yet people on the Board won’t even say hello to him or  
acknowledge him. He asked that the Board at least “be polite” before and after Board meetings, 
and perhaps even smile. He said, please do me a favor—we’re all adults here; we’re not in 
kindergarten. He said he had received a letter from Mr. Czerwinski, and Corporation Counsel is 
referenced in the letter, but he doesn’t see her signature on it. 
 
Mr. Vilk also was confused because Mr. Czerwinski’s letter references his (Mr. Vilk’s) letters, but 
not specifically. He once again asked the mayor to give him “correct” answers to all of his  
questions. 

 
 

XVI. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to be brought before the Board, Trustee Minx moved to adjourn 
the meeting, seconded by Trustee Witko. Motion passed unanimously via voice vote. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:19 p.m. 
 
 

 
  



Minutes of June 27, 2023 Board Meeting 

 8

 
 
 
 
 
PASSED this 11th day of July, 2023. 
 
 

Trustee Khan        

Trustee Minx     __________  

Trustee Shiba        

Trustee Thill     __________  

Trustee Travis     __________  

Trustee Witko     __________  
 
 
 
 

APPROVED by me this 11th day of July, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 
Board of Trustees, Morton Grove, Illinois 
 
 
 
APPROVED and FILED in my office this 12th day of July, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 
Eileen Harford, Village Clerk 
Village of Morton Grove, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
 
  Minutes by Teresa Cousar 



 

Submitted by: Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 

Reviewed by: Terry Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 

Reviewed by: Mike Lukich, Director of Public Works 

Prepared by: Chris Tomich, Village Engineer 

Legislative Summary 
 

Resolution 23-28 

 
AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH PETER BAKER AND SON COMPANY FOR THE 2023 STREET 

PATCHING PROGRAM 

Introduced: July 11, 2023 

  

Purpose: To authorize the Village Administrator to execute a contract with Peter Baker and 

Son Company for the 2023 Street Patching Program. 

  

Background: The annual street patching program is a preventative measure for asphalt streets to 

maintain quality, drainage, and drivability and extend the life of the streets in the 

Village. This work should be completed over three days. 

 

The Public Works Department developed contract documents. Bids were solicited 

on the Village and the Illinois Department of Transportation websites for eleven 

business days. Seventeen entities downloaded the contract documents. Seven bids 

were received and opened on June 30, 2023. The tabulation of bids is attached as 

Exhibit “A.” Peter Baker and Son Company submitted the lowest bid and is 

qualified to perform this work. This contract conforms to purchasing requirements 

of the Village and the state of Illinois. This contract must conform to the 

requirements of the Prevailing Wage Act. Since this contract will be paid with 

Motor Fuel Tax dollars, the contract must conform to the State of Illinois 

Department of Transportation regulations. 

  

Programs, Departments 

 or Groups Affected 

Public Works Department 

  

Fiscal Impact: $130,000.00 

  

Source of Funds: 2023 Motor Fuel Tax Account Number 03-50-60-55-2290 

  

Workload Impact: The Public Works Department, as part of their normal work activities, will 

manage and implement the project. 

  

Administrator 

Recommendation: 

Approval as presented. 

  

Second Reading: Not Required 

  

Special Considerations 

or Requirements: 

None 

 

 



RESOLUTION 23-28 

 
AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH PETER BAKER AND SON COMPANY  

FOR THE 2023 STREET PATCHING PROGRAM  

 

  

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a home 

rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois, 

can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, including but not 

limited to the power to tax, purchase, and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, the annual street patching program is necessary to maintain the Village’s 

infrastructure; and 

WHEREAS, the 2023 Street Patching Program includes removing and replacing 1-1/2-inch of 

asphalt surface pavement at over 100 individual locations throughout the Village; and 

 WHEREAS, Resolution 22-46, approved December 12, 2022, appropriated Motor Fuel Tax funds 

for maintenance activities including 2023 Street Patching Program, which is regulated by the State of 

Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department advertised on the Village and Illinois Department of 

Transportation (IDOT) websites beginning June 15, 2023, inviting bids on the “2023 Street Improvement 

Program”, which is referred to by IDOT as Morton Grove Section Number 23-00000-02-GM; and 

WHEREAS, the bidding procedures comply with purchasing requirements of the Municipal Code, 

Title 1, Chapter 9, Article A, and motor fuel tax regulations of the State of Illinois; and  

WHEREAS, seventeen entities downloaded the contract documents; and 

WHEREAS, seven bids were received, publicly opened and read at the Public Works Facility at 

10:00 a.m. on June 30, 2023, with the bid results shown in Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, Peter Baker and Son Company of Lake Bluff, Illinois submitted the lowest bid in the 

amount of $152,756.10, which exceeds the Engineer’s Estimate by $22,133.00; and 

WHEREAS, Peter Baker and Son Company have provided satisfactory evidence they can 

complete the work included in the contract; and 

WHEREAS, this contract must conform to the requirements of the Prevailing Wage Act; and  

WHEREAS, funding for the above work in the amount of $130,000 is available in the Village of 

Morton Grove 2023 Adopted Budget Account Number 03-50-60-55-2290; and  

WHEREAS the contract documents reserve the right of the Village to delete parts of work 

included in the bid before award; and 



WHEREAS, Peter Baker and Son Company has agreed to reduce the work to be performed to an 

amount not to exceed $130,000. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS clauses 

into this Resolution as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

 SECTION 2: The Corporate Authorities accept the bid of Peter Baker and Son Company of Lake 

Bluff, Illinois in the amount of $152,756.10. 

SECTION 3: The Village Administrator is hereby authorized to execute a contract with Peter 

Baker and Son Company for the 2023 Street Patching Program in the amount of $130,000. 

 SECTION 4: The Village Administrator and Director of Public Works or their designees are 

authorized to take all steps necessary to implement the contract with Peter Baker and Son Company. 

 SECTION 5: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval. 

 

Passed this 11th day of July 2023 

Trustee Khan     

Trustee Minx     

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Thill     

Trustee Travis     

Trustee Witko     

 

Approved by me this 11th day of July 2023 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Attested and Filed in my office this 

12th day of July 2023 

 

 

       

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 



Village of Morton Grove,  Cook County, Ilinois
2023 Street Patching Program

Bid Tabulation

Bid Opening: June 30, 2023, 10:00 am

PAY 

ITEM
PAY ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST

X7010226 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION , STD. 701501 SPECIAL L SUM 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $4,226.00 $4,226.00 $9,509.00 $9,509.00 $6,350.00 $6,350.00

1 CLASS D PATCHES, 1-1/2”, SPECIAL SQ YD 5717 $19.00 $108,623.00 $22.00 $125,774.00 $23.00 $131,491.00 $23.30 $133,206.10

2 PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY PATCH, SPECIAL SQ YD 1000 $17.00 $17,000.00 $35.00 $35,000.00 $26.00 $26,000.00 $13.20 $13,200.00

Apparent Low Bidder: Peter Baker & Son Co.
Apparent Low Bid Amount:

Engineer's Estimate of Cost: $130,623.00
Difference: $22,133.10

J.A. Johnson Paving Company

$167,000.00 $152,756.10

$167,000.00 $152,756.10

1349 Rockland Road
Lake Zurich, IL 60047

CORRECTED TOTAL PROPOSAL AMOUNT $130,623.00 $165,000.00

Peter Baker & Son Co.Engineer's Estimate Chicagoland Paving Contractors Inc

225 Telser Road
Arlington Heights, IL 60005 Lake Bluff, IL 60044

$152,756.10

AS-READ PROPOSAL AMOUNT $165,000.00

1025 E. Addison Court

Page 1 of 2

EXHIBIT "A"



Village of Morton Grove,  Cook County, Ilinois
2023 Street Patching Program

Bid Tabulation

Bid Opening: June 30, 2023, 10:00 am

PAY 

ITEM
PAY ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT COST ITEM COST

X7010226 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION , STD. 701501 SPECIAL L SUM 1 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

1 CLASS D PATCHES, 1-1/2”, SPECIAL SQ YD 5717 $19.00 $108,623.00

2 PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY PATCH, SPECIAL SQ YD 1000 $17.00 $17,000.00

Apparent Low Bidder: Peter Baker & Son Co.
Apparent Low Bid Amount:

Engineer's Estimate of Cost: $130,623.00
Difference: $22,133.10

CORRECTED TOTAL PROPOSAL AMOUNT $130,623.00

Engineer's Estimate

$152,756.10

AS-READ PROPOSAL AMOUNT

UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST UNIT COST ITEM COST

$4,000.00 $4,000.00 $8,400.00 $8,400.00 $7,500.00 $7,500.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

$23.00 $131,491.00 $26.40 $150,928.80 $40.00 $228,680.00 $22.00 $125,774.00

$33.00 $33,000.00 $30.10 $30,100.00 $46.00 $46,000.00 $18.95 $18,950.00

 

PO Box 831

Schroeder Asphalt Services, Inc

$154,724.00

$168,491.00 $189,428.80 $282,180.00 $154,724.00

$168,491.00 $189,428.80 $282,180.00

Huntley, IL 60142Ingleside, IL 60041
4401 Roosevelt Road 1445 Oakton Street 28090 W Concrete Drive

Maneval Construction Co., Inc.Builders Paving LLC

Hillside, IL 60162 Elk Grove Village, IL 60007

Arrow Road Construction Company

Page 2 of 2

EXHIBIT "A"



   

 

Submitted by - Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator       

Reviewed by - Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel                           

Prepared by - Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 

Legislative Summary  
 

Ordinance 23-16 

APPROVING A FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR A MINOR SUBDIVISION AT 8833 

WAUKEGAN ROAD, 6900 DEMPSTER STREET, 8888 NEW ENGLAND AVENUE, AND 

PROPERTY VACATED UNDER COOK COUNTY DOCUMENT NUMBER 2310257013 IN MORTON 

GROVE, ILLINOIS 

Introduction: July 11, 2023 

  

Purpose: To approve a Final Plat of Subdivision to consolidate 36 lots and vacated rights of way into one lot of record 

for a 4.37-acre property at Dempster and Waukegan operated by the Steve Napleton Automotive Group.  

  

Background: Steve Napleton Automotive Group (“applicant”) and 100 West Golf LLC (“owner”) submitted a complete 

Subdivision Application requesting the approval of a consolidation of property at 8833 Waukegan Road, 

6900 Dempster Street, and 8888 New England Avenue, and property vacated to 100 West Golf LLC under 

Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, Illinois (“subject property”). The subject 

property is currently improved with three structures and is operated as a motor vehicle dealership by the 

Steve Napleton Automotive Group. The property was formerly owned and operated by Castle Honda but 

was sold to 100 West Golf LLC, the real estate entity for the Steve Napleton Automotive Group, in 2022. 

 

The applicant is seeking the Village Board’s approval of a minor subdivision as depicted in the submitted 

Final Plat of Subdivision, “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision," to consolidate the subject 

property, which is currently under unified ownership, to simplify tax procedures and overall management. 

The applicant plans to redevelop the property by constructing a new 40,000-square-foot Honda dealership, 

along with accessory parking, outdoor vehicle storage, and landscaped areas. The Village does not require 

lot consolidation for this project and can approve the development as proposed, with minor modifications 

to comply with relevant code requirements.  

 

Because the application is a legal formality and not in relation to the planned development, review by the 

Appearance Commission and Traffic Safety Commission was not required. On June 20, 2023, the applicant 

appeared before the Plan Commission to present the request for approval of the application made under 

Case PC 23-11. Based on the application, staff report, and testimony presented at the public hearing, the 

Plan Commission voted unanimously (6-0, Commissioner Liston absent) to recommend approval of the 

Final Plat of Subdivision as presented.  

 

Programs, Dept’s, 

Groups Affected 
Department of Community and Economic Development 

  

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

  

Source of Funds: N/A 

  

Workload 

Impact: 

The Subdivision will be implemented and supervised by staff as part of their normal work activities. 

  

Administrative  

Recommendation: 
Approval as presented 

  

Second Reading: July 25, 2023 

  

Special 

Considerations or 

Requirements: 

None 

 



 

ORDINANCE 23-16 

APPROVING A FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION FOR A MINOR SUBDIVISION AT 8833 

WAUKEGAN ROAD, 6900 DEMPSTER STREET, 8888 NEW ENGLAND AVENUE, AND 

PROPERTY VACATED UNDER COOK COUNTY DOCUMENT NUMBER 2310257013 IN 

MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

 

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (“Village”), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a 

home rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State 

of Illinois, and can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and 

affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to tax and incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the property commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 

8888 New England Avenue, and property vacated under Cook County document number 

2310257013, legally described in “Exhibit A”, attached hereto and made a part of this Ordinance, 

comprises thirty six (36) lots and vacated public rights of way, has a combined area of 4.37 acres, is 

zoned C-1 General Commercial, and is currently improved with three (3) commercial structures 

(“Subject Property”); and  

WHEREAS, Steve Napleton Automotive Group (“Applicant”) and 100 W. Golf LLC 

(“Owner”) made a proper application to the Plan Commission in the Village of Morton Grove under 

Case PC 23-11 requesting approval of a Final Plat of Subdivision for the Subject Property to create 

one new lot of record, in accordance with the submitted Final Plat of Subdivision, “Napleton Honda 

of Morton Grove Subdivision,” prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023, a copy of which is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof, and is marked as “Exhibit B”; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed Final Plat meets the definition of a minor subdivision established 

in Section 12-17-1 of the Unified Development Code, whereas such subdivision fronts on an existing 

street, does not involve any new street or road, and does not result in more than two (2) buildable lots, 

and as such, the Applicant is permitted to and has filed for approval of a final plat of subdivision 

without a preliminary plat of subdivision; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Municipal Code, notice of the public 

hearing was duly published in the Morton Grove Champion, a newspaper of general circulation in the 

Village of Morton Grove, on June 1, written notification sent to property owners within 250 feet of 

the subject property on June 2, 2023, and a public notice sign was posted on the property on June 2, 

2023; and  

 WHEREAS, as required by ordinance, the Morton Grove Plan Commission held a public 

hearing relative to the above referenced case on June 20, 2023, where all concerned parties were given 



 

the opportunity to be present and express their views for the consideration by the Plan Commission; 

and  

 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission reviewed the proposed Consolidation in accordance with 

the subdivision criteria established in Section 12-16-4.D.3 of the Unified Development Code, and 

after considering all evidence and testimony presented to it, the Plan Commission made certain 

recommendations and conditions through a report dated July 5, 2023, a copy of which is attached 

hereto and made a part hereof, and is marked as “Exhibit C”; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Village’s Unified Development Code, the 

Corporate Authorities have determined that the Final Plat of Subdivision should be approved, subject 

to the provisions, conditions, and restrictions contained in this Ordinance.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 

FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Incorporation by Reference. The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate 

the foregoing WHEREAS clauses into this Ordinance by this reference, as though fully set forth 

herein, thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

SECTION 2. Approval of Final Plat of Subdivision. The Corporate Authorities do hereby 

approve the application for PC 23-11, for approval of a Final Plat of Subdivision to create one new 

lot of record for the property commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 8888 

New England Avenue, and property vacated under Cook County document number 2310257013, as 

legally described in “Exhibit A”.  

SECTION 3. Conditions. The Final Plat of Subdivision shall be subject to the following 

conditions:  

A. The final recorded plat of subdivision shall be in accordance with the approved Final 

Plat of Subdivision, “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision,” prepared by 

Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023, attached hereto as “Exhibit B”.  

B. The Applicant shall not record the Final Plat of Subdivision with the Clerk of Cook 

County, Illinois, until they have complied with all relevant requirements of Chapter 8 

of the Unified Development Code (Title 12) and have provided the Village of evidence 

of such compliance. 

 SECTION 4. Filing of Final Plat of Subdivision. The Applicant or his/her successor shall file 

the Final Plat of Subdivision with the Cook County Clerk within ninety (90) days of Village Board 

of Trustees approval, at the Applicant’s expense and in accordance with Section 12-8-3 of the Village 



 

Code, and shall file the original recorded mylar or a certified copy of the recorded plat with the 

Department of Community and Economic Development within thirty (30) days of such recording.  

SECTION 5. Village Records. The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to amend 

all pertinent records of the Village of Morton Grove to show and designate the Final Plat of 

Subdivision as granted hereunder. 

 SECTION 6. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after 

its passage, approval, and publication in pamphlet form according to law. 

 

Passed this 25th day of July 2023.  

 

Trustee Khan     

Trustee Minx     

Trustee Shiba     

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Witko    

 

Approved by me this 25th day of July 2023.  

 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

Attested and Filed in my office this 26th day of July 2023.  

 

 

 

__________________________ 

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

  



 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 

 

EXHIBIT A   Legal Description of Subject Property  

EXHIBIT B Final Plat of Subdivision, “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision,” 

prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023 

EXHIBIT C  Plan Commission Report for Case PC 23-11, dated July 5, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

8833 WAUKEGAN ROAD, 6900 DEMPSTER STREET, 8888 NEW ENGLAND 

AVENUE, AND PROPERTY VACATED UNDER COOK COUNTY DOCUMENT 

NUMBER 2310257013 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 

 

PARCEL 1:  

LOTS 151, 152 AND 153 (EXCEPT THE WEST 4.00 FEET OF SAID LOTS) IN DEMPSTER 

WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN 

THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 

EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 2:  

LOTS 154 AND 155 (EXCEPT THE WEST 4 FEET THEREOF) IN DEMPSTER WAUKEGAN 

ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 

OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 

PARCEL 3: 

LOT 128 TO 141 INCLUSIVE AND LOTS 156 TO 169 INCLUSIVE (EXCEPT THE WEST 4 

FEET OF LOTS 156 TO 159) IN DEMPSTER WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 

1 AND 2 OF OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 

18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN 

COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. ALL OF LOTS 142 AND 143 AND THE EAST 19 FEET OF LOT 

144, IN DEMPSTER AND WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN 

OWNERS SUBDIVISION IN SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 

13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN (EXCEPT THAT PART OF SAID LOTS 

TAKEN FOR THE WIDENING OF DEMPSTER STREET) IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 4: 

PARTS OF ALLEYS AND STREET IN DEMPSTER-WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF 

LOTS 1 AND 2 IN OWNER’S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH ONE THIRD OF THE SOUTH 

HALF OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD 

PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DEMPSTER-WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION, RECORDED 

OCTOBER 15, 1925 AS DOCUMENT 9060534; PART OF THE NORTH-SOUTH 16 FOOT 

ALLEY AND PART OF THE 16 FOOT EAST-WEST ALLEY BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED 

AS: BEGINNING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 169; THENCE EAST ON THE 

EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 169 TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE 

OF LOT 128, BEING 4 FOOT NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 128; 

THENCE SOUTH ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 128 AND WEST LINES OF LOTS 129 

TO 141, BOTH INCLUSIVE, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 141; THENCE EAST 

ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 141 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 

LOT 141; THENCE SOUTH ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF NEW ENGLAND 



 

AVENUE TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 142; THENCE WEST ALONG THE 

NORTH LINES OF LOT 142 TO 146, BOTH INCLUSIVE, AND PART OF THE NORTH LINE 

OF LOT 147 TO THE EAST LINE OF PREVIOUSLY VACATED ALLEY, SAID LINE ALSO 

BEING THE EAST LINE OF LOTS 149 TO 169, BOTH INCLUSIVE, EXTENDED SOUTH; 

THENCE NORTH ON SAID EAST LINE OF LOTS 149 TO 169, BOTH INCLUSIVE AND 

EXTENSION THEREOF TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

PARCEL 5: 

THAT PART OF NEW ENGLAND AVENUE BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED AS: 

BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 109 AND THE NORTH 

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF DEMPSTER STREET, AS WIDENED; THENCE WEST ON THE 

NORTH LINE OF DEMPSTER STREET, AS WIDENED, TO THE EAST LINE OF LOT 142; 

THENCE NORTH ON THE EAST LINE OF LOT 142 AND THE EXTENSION OF SAID EAST 

LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 141; THENCE NORTH ON THE EAST LINES 

OF LOTS 141 TO 128, BOTH INCLUSIVE, TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 128; 

THENCE EAST TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 123; THENCE SOUTH ON THE 

WEST LINES OF LOT 123 TO 110, BOTH INCLUSIVE, AND THE EXTENSION OF SAID 

WEST LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF AFORESAID LOT 109; THENCE 

CONTINUING SOUTH ON THE WEST LINE OF AFORESAID LOT 109 TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING; IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

 

FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION 

 

 “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision,” prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



LOT 170

LOT 172

LOT 173

LOT 171

LOT 127

LOT 126

LOT 150

LOT 149

LOT 148

P
A

R
T
 O

F
 L

O
T
 1

4
4

L
O

T
 1

4
5

L
O

T
 1

4
6

L
O

T
 1

4
7

AS 
DOCUM

ENT 
90

60
53

4

REC
ORDED 

OCTOBER
 1
5, 
19

25

OF 
LOTS

 1
 A

ND 
2 
IN
 O

W
NER
'S 

SUBDI
VI

SI
ON

DEM
PS

TE
R 

W
AUKEGAN 

ROAD 
SUBDI

VI
SI

ON 

AS 
DOCUM

ENT 
90

60
53

4

REC
ORDED 

OCTOBER
 1
5, 
19

25

OF 
LOTS

 1
 A

ND 
2 
IN
 O

W
NER
'S 

SUBDI
VI

SI
ON

DEM
PS

TE
R 

W
AUKEGAN 

ROAD 
SUBDI

VI
SI

ON 

A
S
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
 9
0
6
0
5
3
4

R
E
C

O
R

D
E

D
 O

C
T

O
B
E
R
 1
5
, 1

9
2
5

O
F
 L

O
T
S
 1
 A

N
D
 2
 I
N
 O

W
N

E
R
'S
 S

U
B

D
IV
IS
IO

N

D
E

M
P
S
T
E
R
 W

A
U

K
E

G
A

N
 R

O
A

D
 S

U
B

D
IV
IS
IO

N
 

AS 
DOCUM

ENT 
90

60
53

4

REC
ORDED 

OCTOBER
 1
5, 
19

25

OF 
LOTS

 1
 A

ND 
2 
IN
 O

W
NER
'S 

SUBDI
VI

SI
ON

DEM
PS

TE
R 

W
AUKEGAN 

ROAD 
SUBDI

VI
SI

ON 

L
O

T
 1

1
0

L
O

T
 1

1
1

L
O

T
 1

1
2

L
O

T
 1

1
3

L
O

T
 1

1
4

L
O

T
 1

1
5

L
O

T
 1

1
6

L
O

T
 1

1
7

LOT 
11

8

L
O

T
 1

1
9

LOT 
12

0

L
O

T
 1

2
1

L
O

T
 1

2
2

L
O

T
 1

2
3

L
O

T
 1

2
4

L
O

T
 1

2
5

A
S
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
 9

0
6
0
5
3
4

R
E

C
O

R
D

E
D
 O

C
T

O
B

E
R
 1

5
, 
1
9
2
5

O
F
 L

O
T
S
 1
 A

N
D
 2
 I

N
 O

W
N

E
R
'S
 S

U
B

D
IV
IS
IO

N
D

E
M

P
S

T
E

R
 W

A
U

K
E

G
A

N
 R

O
A

D
 S

U
B

D
IV
IS
IO

N
 

LOT 
10

9

LOT 151

PART OF 

LOT 152

PART OF 

LOT 153

PART OF 

LOT 154

PART OF 

LOT 155

PART OF 

LOT 156

PART OF 

LOT 157

PART OF 

LOT 158

PART OF 

LOT 159

PART OF 

N 
O 

T 
 I N
 C
 L 

U 
D 

E 
D

N 
O 

T 
 I N
 C
 L 

U 
D 

E 
D

N 
O 

T 
 I N
 C
 L 

U 
D 

E 
D

PURPOSES ONLY
FOR REVIEW

DATE:

JOB NO:

FILENAME:

SHEET

OFPhone: (847) 696-4060  Fax: (847) 696-4065

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

9575 W. Higgins Road,  Suite 700,

REVISIONS:

SCHAUMBURG, IL 60195 

110 WEST GOLF ROAD 

STEVE NAPLETON AUTOMOTIVE GROUP 

PREPARED FOR:

H
E

R
E
T

O
F

O
R

E
 D

E
D
IC

A
T

E
D

HERETOFORE DEDICATED

N
E

W
 E

N
G

L
A

N
D
 A

V
E

N
U

E

N

SCALE  1" = 30'

0 30 60

UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

DISTANCES ARE MEASURED 

NOTE: ALL BEARINGS AND 

OBSERVATION IL EAST ZONE

TRUE NORTH BASED ON GEODETIC 

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

L
O

T
 1

4
2

L
O

T
 1

4
3

LOT 128

LOT 129

LOT 130

LOT 131

LOT 132

LOT 133

LOT 134

LOT 135

LOT 136

LOT 137

LOT 138

LOT 139

LOT 140

LOT 141

LOT 160

LOT 161

LOT 162

LOT 163

LOT 164

LOT 165

LOT 166

LOT 167

LOT 168

LOT 169

ALLEY

A
L

L
E

Y

16'

1
6
'

P A R C E L  1

P A R C E L  2

P 
A 

R 
C 

E 
L  

3

P 
A 

R 
C 

E 
L  

3

P
 A
 R
 C
 E
 L
  
3

N89°18'51"E          188.03'

S
0
1
°0

3
'5

8
"E
  
  
  
  
  
7
0
5
.7

8
'

N84°27'52"W           79.80'

N
0
1
°0

5
'2

0
"W
  
  
  
  
  
1
1
2
.1

3
'

S89°09'08"W          119.56'

S89°18'10"W

4.00'

N
0
0
°5

7
'1

2
"W
  
  
  
  
  
2
4
9
.8

0
'

N89°27'43"E          138.61'

224.81'

N00°57'12"W

PART OF LOT 151

PART OF LOT 152

PART OF LOT 153

PART OF LOT 154

PART OF LOT 155

PART OF LOT 156

PART OF LOT 157

PART OF LOT 158

PART OF LOT 159

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

5
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

50'50'

100' (VARIES)

5
4
'

5
4
'

1
1
6
.6

3
' 
(V

A
R
IE

S
)

EXCEPTION 4'

5
0
'(
R
)

1
2
1
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
3
.9

4
'(
R
)

CHURCHILL STREET
HERETOFORE DEDICATED

GREENWOOD STREET
HERETOFORE DEDICATED

588.29'(M)

6
6
'

FOUND IP 0.39'S & ON-LINE

FOUND 3/4" IP AT CORNER

0.11'S & 0.86'E

FOUND 1/2" IR W/CAP 

ON-LINE & 2.97'E

FOUND CROSS 

ON-LINE & 6.40'E

FOUND CROSS 

0.10'N & 0.55'E

FOUND 5/8" IR 3.65'N & 4.52'W

FOUND 1/2" IP 

AT CORNER

FOUND 5/8" IR 

ON-LINE

IR 0.19'S & 

FOUND 5/8" 

ON-LINE & 2.97'E

FOUND CROSS ON-LINE & 0.54'E

FOUND 5/8" IR 

AT CORNER

FOUND 3/4" IP 

ON-LINE & 2.03'E

FOUND 3/4" IP 

AT CORNER

FOUND 3/4" IP 

N.T.S.

N

LOCATION

PROJECT

VICINITY MAP

DEMPSTER ST

W
A

U
K

E
G

A
N
 R

D

ST

WOOD

GREEN

CHURCH ST

BECKWITH RD

LYONS ST

DAVIS ST

O
A

K
 P

A
R

K
 A

V
E

C
H

E
R

R
Y
 A

V
E

HAZEL ST

CHURCHILL ST

B
IR

C
H
 A

V
E A

V
E

N
A

T
O

M
A

A
V

E

N
A

S
H

V
IL

L
E

E
V

A 
H

A
N

E
E

N

N
E

W
 E

N
G

L
A

N
D
  
  
  
 A

V
E

N
E

W
C

A
S

T
L
E
  
  
  
 A

V
E MAPLE ST

DAVIS        ST

 A
V

E

N
E

W
 E

N
G

L
A

N
D

11675

11675SUB-01

1 1

IP AT CORNER

FOUND 3/4" 

CHURCHILL STREET

VACATED 

VACATED PER DOCUMENT 23349230

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

2
5
'(
R
)

4
5
.2

2
'(
R
)

122.53'(R) 122.00'(R)

4
0
'(
R
)

4
4
.0

3
'(
R
)

122.34'(R)

VACATED ALLEY

19'

P
A

R
T
 O

F
  
  
  
L

O
T
 1

4
4

19'(R) 25'(R) 35.32'(R)
DOCUMENT 23349230

VACATED PER 

ALLEY

VACATED 

1
6
'(
R
)

DRAWING 5188 PAGE 7
STREET AS SHOWN ON IDOT 
NORTH LINE OF DEMPSTER 

W
E
S

T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 W

A
U

K
E

G
A

N
 R

O
A

D
 P

E
R
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
 9

2
3
3
2
5
2
6

S
H

O
W

N
 O

N
 I

D
O

T
 D

R
A

W
IN

G
 5

1
8
8
 P

A
G

E
 7

E
A

S
T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 W

A
U

K
E

G
A

N
 R

O
A

D
 A

S
 

P
E

R
 D

O
C
. 
9
0
5
0
0
3
1
6

C
O

M
E

D
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

1
0
'

20'

2
0
'

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE 

SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF 

S89°09'08"W    58.68'

N
0
1
°0

4
'0

8
"W
  
  
  
  
  
 7

5
.2

7
'

3
5
.9

6
'

N
0
1
°0

4
'0

8
"W

12/12/2022

FOUND PK AT CORNER

NE CORNER OF LOT 169

PARCEL 4
POINT OF BEGINNING

EXTENSION OF NORTH LINE OF LOT 169

WEST LINE OF LOT 128

SW CORNER OF LOT 128

NE CORNER OF LOT 128 OF LOT 123

NW CORNER 

W
E
S

T
 L
IN

E
S
 O

F
 L

O
T
 1

2
3
 T

O
 1

1
0

A
V

E
N

U
E
 &
 E

A
S

T
 L
IN

E
S
 O

F
 L

O
T
S
 1

4
1
 T

O
 1

2
8

W
E
S

T
 R
IG

H
T
 O

F
 W

A
Y
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 N

E
W
 E

N
G

L
A

N
D
 

N
W
 C

O
R

N
E

R
 O

F
 L

O
T
 1

0
9

O
F
 L

O
T
 1

0
9

W
E
S

T
 L
IN

E
 

PARCEL 5
POINT OF BEGINNING OF

E
A

S
T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 L

O
T
 1

4
2

SW CORNER OF LOT 141

SOUTH LINE OF LOT 141

SE CORNER OF LOT 141

LOT 142 TO 146

NORTH LINES OF 

A
L
L
E

Y
 &
 E

A
S

T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 L

O
T
S
 1

4
9
 T

O
 1

6
9

E
A

S
T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 P

R
E

V
IO

U
S

L
Y
 V

A
C

A
T

E
D
 

L
O

T
S
 1

2
8
 T

O
 1

4
1

W
E
S

T
 L
IN

E
 O

F
 

P
 A
 R
 C
 E
 L
  
5

LINE OF DEMPSTER STREET

LOT 109 & NORTH RIGHT OF WAY 

INTERSECTION OF WEST LINE OF 

P
 A
 R
 C
 E
 L
  
4

P A R C E L  4

RECORD

MEASURED

IRON PIPE

IRON ROD

(R) =

(M) =

IP =

IR =

LO
T
 
1

SUBDIVISION

GROVE 

OF MORTON 

NAPLETON HONDA

               SECRETARY

                                                                                                        ATTEST:

               CHAIRMAN

                                                                                                        SIGNED:

.        ,A.D. 20                         DAY OF               DATED THIS 

GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON 

COUNTY OF COOK )

                                   ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

PLANNING COMMISSION

B
E
 S

E
T
 A

T
 C

O
R

N
E

R
C

O
N

C
 M

O
N

U
M

E
N

T
 T

O
 

B
E
 S

E
T
 A

T
 C

O
R

N
E

R
C

O
N

C
 M

O
N

U
M

E
N

T
 T

O
 

(W
A

U
K

E
G

A
N
 R

O
A

D
)

(DEMPSTER STREET)

ILLINOIS ROUTE 58

IL
L
IN

O
IS
 R

O
U

T
E
 4

3

2
5
' 
 (

R
)

CL OF EXISTING ACCESS POINT

CL OF EXISTING ACCESS POINT

S89°19'48"W         66.00'

A
C

C
E
S
S
 P

O
IN

T
C

L
 O

F
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 

02/10/2023

CIRCULATION.

AND TO IL ROUTE 58 (DEMPSTER STREET) SHALL BE VIA INTERNAL 

3. ALL OTHER VEHICULAR ACCESS TO IL ROUTE 43 (WAUKEGAN ROAD) 

POINT ALONG IL ROUTE 58 (DEMPSTER STREET), AS DEPICTED HEREON.

2. THERE SHALL BE AT MOST ONE (1) DIRECT VEHICULAR ACCESS 

DEPICTED HEREON.

POINTS ALONG IL ROUTE 43 (WAUKEGAN ROAD) SERVING LOT 1, AS 

1. THERE SHALL BE AT MOST TWO (2) DIRECT VEHICULAR ACCESS 

ACCESS NOTES: 

05/25/2023

THE POINT OF BEGINNING; IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

NORTHWEST CORNER OF AFORESAID LOT 109; THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH ON THE WEST LINE OF AFORESAID LOT 109 TO 

THENCE SOUTH ON THE WEST LINES OF LOT 123 TO 110, BOTH INCLUSIVE, AND THE EXTENSION OF SAID WEST LINE TO THE 

TO 128, BOTH INCLUSIVE, TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 128; THENCE EAST TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 123; 

EXTENSION OF SAID EAST LINE TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 141; THENCE NORTH ON THE EAST LINES OF LOTS 141 

DEMPSTER STREET, AS WIDENED, TO THE EAST LINE OF LOT 142; THENCE NORTH ON THE EAST LINE OF LOT 142 AND THE 

OF LOT 109 AND THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF DEMPSTER STREET, AS WIDENED; THENCE WEST ON THE NORTH LINE OF 

THAT PART OF NEW ENGLAND AVENUE BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT THE INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE 

PARCEL 5:

OF BEGINNING;

SOUTH; THENCE NORTH ON SAID EAST LINE OF LOTS 149 TO 169, BOTH INCLUSIVE AND EXTENSION THEREOF TO THE POINT 

OF PREVIOUSLY VACATED ALLEY, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE EAST LINE OF LOTS 149 TO 169, BOTH INCLUSIVE, EXTENDED 

ALONG THE NORTH LINES OF LOT 142 TO 146, BOTH INCLUSIVE, AND PART OF THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 147 TO THE EAST LINE 

ON THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF NEW ENGLAND AVENUE TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 142; THENCE WEST 

141; THENCE EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 141 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 141; THENCE SOUTH 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 128 AND WEST LINES OF LOTS 129 TO 141, BOTH INCLUSIVE, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 

ON THE WEST LINE OF LOT 128, BEING 4 FOOT NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 128; THENCE SOUTH ON THE 

THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 169; THENCE EAST ON THE EXTENSION OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 169 TO A POINT 

NORTH-SOUTH 16 FOOT ALLEY AND PART OF THE 16 FOOT EAST-WEST ALLEY BOUNDED AND DESCRIBED AS: BEGINNING AT 

MERIDIAN, DEMPSTER-WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION, RECORDED OCTOBER 15, 1925 AS DOCUMENT 9060534; PART OF THE 

THE SOUTH ONE THIRD OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 

PARTS OF ALLEYS AND STREET IN DEMPSTER-WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN OWNER’S SUBDIVISION IN 
PARCEL 4:

(EXCEPT THAT PART OF SAID LOTS TAKEN FOR THE WIDENING OF DEMPSTER STREET) IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

SUBDIVISION IN  SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN 

AND 143 AND THE EAST 19 FEET OF LOT 144, IN DEMPSTER AND WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN OWNERS 

18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. ALL OF LOTS 142 

WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 OF OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 

LOT 128 TO 141 INCLUSIVE AND LOTS 156 TO 169 INCLUSIVE (EXCEPT THE WEST 4 FEET OF LOTS 156 TO 159) IN DEMPSTER, 

PARCEL 3:

THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST OF THE 

LOTS 154 AND 155 (EXCEPT THE WEST 4 FEET THEREOF) IN DEMPSTER WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 AND 2 IN 

PARCEL 2:

OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

AND 2 IN OWNER'S SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTH 1/3 OF THE SOUTH 1/2 OF SECTION 18, TOWNSHIP 41 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST 

LOTS 151, 152 AND 153 (EXCEPT THE WEST 4.00 FEET OF SAID LOTS) IN DEMPSTER WAUKEGAN ROAD SUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1 

PARCEL 1:

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:

10-18-321-054-0000

10-18-321-052-0000

10-18-321-051-0000

10-18-321-050-0000

10-18-321-049-0000

10-18-321-048-0000

10-18-321-047-0000

10-18-321-036-0000

10-18-321-035-0000

10-18-321-023-0000

TITLE COMMITMENT):

TAX P.I.N.s (PER 

(VALID ONLY IF EMBOSSED SEAL AFFIXED)

jleskovisek@spacecoinc.com

LICENSE EXPIRES: 11-30-2024

JORDAN A. LESKOVISEK, I.P.L.S. No. 035-4056

                                                                                            

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL IN ROSEMONT, ILLINOIS, THIS ____ DAY OF __________, 2022.

LAST DATE OF FIELD WORK: MARCH 14, 2022.

WE FURTHER DECLARE THAT STEEL RE-ENFORCING RODS (UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED) WILL BE SET AT ALL LOT CORNERS.

 

LIES IN ZONE X (UNSHADED) - AREA OF MINIMAL FLOOD HAZARD AS IDENTIFIED BY SAID F.I.R.M. MAP.

MAP WITH AN EFFECTIVE DATE/MAP REVISED OF AUGUST 19, 2008, IT IS OUR CONSIDERED OPINION THAT THIS PROPERTY 

WE FURTHER DECLARE, BASED UPON A REVIEW OF (FEMA) FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP (FIRM) MAP NUMBER 17031C0241J 

 

THE ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL CODE AS AMENDED.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND MAP AND IS EXERCISING THE SPECIAL POWERS AUTHORIZED BY DIVISION 12 OF ARTICLE 11 OF 

WE FURTHER DECLARE THAT THE LAND IS WITHIN THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE WHICH HAS ADOPTED A CITY 

 

SAID PROPERTY CONTAINS 193,458 SQUARE FEET, OR 4.441 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

 

OF SAID SURVEY. ALL DISTANCES ARE SHOWN IN FEET AND DECIMALS THEREOF.

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM, NUMBER 184-001157, AND THAT THE PLAT HEREON DRAWN IS A CORRECT REPRESENTATION 

WE DECLARE THAT THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PROPERTY WAS SURVEYED AND SUBDIVIDED BY SPACECO, INC., AN ILLINOIS 

 

COUNTY OF COOK   )

                 ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

PRINTED NAME & TITLE

                                                                                                        

                                                                                                        SIGNED:

PRINTED NAME & TITLE

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                        SIGNED:

.        , A.D. 20                         DAY OF               DATED THIS 

JUNIOR COLLEGE DISTRICT NO. 67    

 

HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 19    

 

COLLEGE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 219   

 

SCHOOL DISTRICTS

 

DETERMINED TO THE BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE THE SCHOOL DISTRICT IN WHICH EACH OF THE FOLLOWING LOTS LIE.

THIS IS TO ALSO CERTIFY THAT AS OWNER(S) OF THE PROPERTY AS LEGALLY DESCRIBED ON THIS PLAT, HAVE 

SAME UNDER THE TITLE THEREON INDICATED.

HEREON FOR THE USES AND PURPOSES THEREIN SET FORTH, AND DOES HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGE AND ADOPT THE 

OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED HEREON AND THAT IT HAS CAUSED THE SAID PROPERTY TO BE PLATTED AS SHOWN 

 IS/ARE OWNER                                                                        AND                                                                  THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT 

COUNTY OF COOK )

                                   ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

NOTARY PUBLIC

                                                                                                        

.        A.D., 20                         DAY OF               DATED THIS 

GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND NOTARIAL SEAL 

THE USES AND PURPOSES HEREIN SET FORTH.

ACKNOWLEDGED THAT HE/SHE/THEY DID SIGN AND DELIVER THIS INSTRUMENT AS A FREE AND VOLUNTARY ACT FOR 

IS/ARE SUBSCRIBED TO THE FOREGOING CERTIFICATE, APPEARED BEFORE ME THIS DAY IN PERSON AND 

 WHO IS/ARE PERSONALLY KNOWN TO ME TO BE THE SAME WHOSE NAME(S)                                                                          OF 

                                                                            , TITLE                                                                       

 AND                                                                             , TITLE                                                                       

HEREBY CERTIFY THAT 

, A NOTARY PUBLIC IN AND FOR THE COUNTY AND STATE AFORESAID, DO                                                                                    I,

COUNTY OF COOK )

                                   ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

NOTARY PUBLIC CERTIFICATE

DIRECTOR OF ENGINEERING

                                                                                                        

.        , A.D. 20                         DAY OF               DATED THIS 

APPROVED BY THE VILLAGE ENGINEER OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

COUNTY OF COOK )

                                   ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

VILLAGE ENGINEER CERTIFICATE

               VILLAGE CLERK

                                                                                                        ATTEST:

               MAYOR

                                                                                                        SIGNED:

.        , A.D. 20                         DAY OF               DATED THIS 

APPROVED BY MAYOR & BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

COUNTY OF COOK )

                                   ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

VILLAGE CLERK CERTIFICATE

MAP LAST UPDATED DECEMBER 15, 2022.

COMMERCIAL PER THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE ZONING 

THE CURRENT ZONING OF THE PROPERTY IS C-1 GENERAL 

ADDITIONAL NOTES REQUESTED BY THE VILLAGE: 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 2

3
1
0
2
5
7
0
1
3

H
E

R
E
T

O
F

O
R

E
 V

A
C

A
T

E
D
 B

Y
 

DOCUMENT 2310257013
HERETOFORE VACATED BY 

H
E

R
E
T

O
F

O
R

E
 V

A
C

A
T

E
D
 B

Y
 D

O
C

U
M

E
N

T
 2

3
1
0
2
5
7
0
1
3

                                                          .

                         

                   

COOK COUNTY CLERK STAMP COOK COUNTY RECORDER STAMP

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION ACCEPTANCE 

THIS PLAT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

REVISE THE LAW IN RELATION TO PLATS," AS AMENDED. A PLAN THAT MEETS THE 

REQUIREMENTS CONTAINED IN THE DEPARTMENT'S "

WITH RESPECT TO ROADWAY ACCESS PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 2 OF "AN ACT TO 

DRIVEWAYS TO STATE HIGHWAYS " WILL BE REQUIRED BY THE DEPARTMENT.

POLICY ON PERMITS FOR ACCESS 

BY:   DATE: , 20

REGION ONE ENGINEER

JOSE RIOS, P.E. 

N:\Projects\11675\SURVEY\11675SUB-01.dgn  Default  User=jleskovisek



 

EXHIBIT C 
 

 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORT FOR CASE PC 23-11 

 

Dated July 5, 2023 



 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 
  

To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 

From: Steven Blonz, Plan Commission Chairperson  
 Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator 
 Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 
 Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 
 

Date: July 5, 2023 
 

Re: Plan Commission Case PC 23-11 
 Request for approval of a final plat of subdivision (consolidation) in accordance with the 

requirements for a minor subdivision pursuant to Chapter 12-8 for the property commonly known as 
8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New England Avenue, and property vacated 
under Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, Illinois (10-18-321-023-0000, 10-
18-321-035-0000, 10-18-321-036-0000, 10-18-321-047-0000, 10-18-321-048-0000, 10-18-321-049-0000, 
10-18-321-050-0000, 10-18-321-051-0000, 10-18-321-052-0000, 10-18-321-054-0000). The property is 
zoned C-1 General Commercial. The applicant is Steve Napleton Automotive Group and 100 West 
Golf LLC. 

 
Executive Summary 
Steve Napleton Automotive Group and 100 West Golf LLC (“applicant”) submitted a complete Subdivision Application 
requesting the approval of a consolidation of property at 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, and 8888 New 
England Avenue, and property vacated to 100 West Golf LLC under Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton 
Grove, Illinois (“subject property”). The 4.37-acre property is zoned C-1 General Commercial. The subject property is currently 
improved with three structures and is operated as a motor vehicle dealership by the Steve Napleton Automotive Group. The 
property was formerly owned and operated by Castle Honda but was sold to 100 West Golf LLC, the real estate entity for the 
Steve Napleton Automotive Group, in 2022.  
 
The Subdivision Application was considered by the Plan Commission at a regularly scheduled meeting on June 20, 2023. For 
the reasons set forth in this report, on June 20, 2023, the Plan Commission unanimously recommended by a vote of 6-0 
(Commissioner Liston absent) that the Village Board of Trustees should approve the consolidation as presented.  
 
Application 
The applicant is seeking the Village’s approval of a plat of subdivision entitled “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision” 
to consolidate the subject property, which is under unified ownership and considered one zoning lot, for the purpose of 
simplifying tax procedures and management. The applicant plans to redevelop the property and construct a new 40,000-
square-foot motor vehicle dealership with accessory parking, outdoor vehicle storage, and landscape areas. A site 
improvement permit application is currently under review. The Village is not requiring the proposed consolidation of lots and 
will be able to approve the proposed development by-right. Through the standard permitting process, Building, Fire, and 
Engineering staff members are working closely with the applicant to ensure the proposed development meets all applicable 
code requirements. 
 
Departmental Review  

• Building Department: No comments at this time.  

• Fire Department: No comments at this time. 
 
• Public Works Department/Engineering: No comments at this time. 

 
Public Hearings 
Appearance Commission 
Because the request for consolidation is a legal formality and is not a request for approval of any specific development, review 
by the Appearance Commission was not required. Appearance Commission review and approval of the proposed elevations 
and landscape plan will be required prior to issuance of any permit for vertical construction.  
 



PC 23-11 – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
July 5, 2023  

 

 
2 

Traffic Safety Commission 
Because the request for consolidation is a legal formality and is not a request for approval of any specific development, review 
by the Traffic Safety Commission was not required.  
 
Plan Commission 
The Village of Morton Grove provided public notice for the June 20, 2023, Plan Commission public hearing for PC 23-11 in 
accordance with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on June 1, 2023. The 
Village mailed letters on June 2, 2023, notifying surrounding property owners, and placed a public notice sign on the subject 
property on June 2, 2023.  
  
Plan Commission – June 20, 2023, Proceedings: Six members of the Plan Commission were in attendance at the public 
hearing for Case PC 23-11 held on June 20, 2023. Commissioner Liston was absent.   
 
Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator, provided a brief introduction to the application. The staff report dated 
June 12, 2023, and attached hereto as “Attachment A,” was entered into the public record.  
 
Ms. Heidorn provided a brief introduction to the application. She explained that in the case of PC 23-11, the applicant is 
requesting approval of a final plat of subdivision to consolidate 4.37 acres of property at the northeast corner of Waukegan 
and Dempster. The applicant is currently operating Napleton Honda at the subject property, the former location of Castle 
Honda. Earlier this year, New England Avenue and abutting alleyways were formally vacated to the applicant under a vacation 
ordinance approved in 2011. The applicant plans to redevelop the site and construct a 40,000-square-foot automotive 
dealership, which is a Permitted Use in the C-1 District. A site improvement permit is currently in review, but the consolidation 
is not required by the Village and will not affect permitting procedures.  
 
Michael Mondus, P.E. C.F.M., of Spaceco Inc. and authorized representative of the applicant, was sworn in by Secretary 
Kirchner. 
 
Mr. Mondus said the applicant plans to build a new facility and is proposing the consolidation of 36 individual parcels, vacated 
alleys and rights of way to clean up the PIN numbers and lot into one property with one PIN number.  
 
Commissioner Gabriel asked if the vacated rights of way have easement provisions.   
 
Ms. Heidorn explained that the plat of vacation includes easement provisions. Typically, the owner must provide maintenance 
and allow the Village access. She is unsure of the specific requirements, but they are included on the recorded plat of 
vacation.  
 
Mr. Mondus added that there a reservation for an easement. The development will be relocating some utilities and has 
identified those needs. The development team is working closely with Village staff to coordinate.  
 
Commissioner Kintner asked about the east side of the subdivision and the lot lines reaching into the Morton Grove Park 
District property.   
 
Mr. Mondus said the lots are from the current underlying plat dating from the 1930s. They are not being altered and do not 
have significance with this subdivision. He referred to the boundary of the proposed plat of subdivision. The residential lot lines 
to the east were simply cut off by the extent of the frame.  
 
Commissioner Kintner asked if there are any current parking agreements or arrangements with neighboring properties, 
including Las Fuentes.  
 
Mr. Mondus said there are no agreements. They would continue use of their own property for parking.  
 
Chairman Blonz noted there were no public comments.  
 



PC 23-11 – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
July 5, 2023  

 

 
3 

Commissioner Kintner made a motion to recommend approval of Case PC 23-11, a request for approval of a final plat of 
subdivision (consolidation) in accordance with the requirements for a minor subdivision pursuant to Chapter 12-8 for the 
property commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New England Avenue, and property 
vacated under Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The applicant shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title 12, Chapter 8, regarding the content and submission 
of the final plat of subdivision;  

2. The applicant shall obtain all necessary signatures and file the final plat of consolidation and all required materials with 
the Cook County Clerk, and shall file the original recorded Mylar or a certified copy of the recorded plat with the 
Department of Community and Economic Development within 90 days of such recording; 

3. The plat of subdivision shall be recorded in accordance with all materials submitted with the application and in 
accordance with the requirements of Title 12, Chapter 8; 

4. The applicant shall file all necessary plans and applications, for review and approval, and secure all necessary 
building permits prior to the commencement of construction. 

The motion was seconded by Commissioner Gabriel. 
 
Motion passes 6-0.  
 
Final Plans and Supporting Documents 
The application’s final plans and supporting documents recommended for approval by the Plan Commission, or as submitted 
by the applicant following the Plan Commission meeting to reflect Plan Commission recommendations, include the following 
and are attached hereto as “Attachment B”: 
 

1. Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision, prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023 
2. A.L.T.A./N.S.P.S. Land Title Survey (3 sheets), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated September 30, 2022 
3. Geometric Plan – Phase 1 (Sheet GM1), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated October 23, 2022 
4. Geometric Plan – Phase 2 (Sheet GM1), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated October 23, 2022 

Attachments 
• Attachment A – Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 23-11, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community 

Development Administrator, dated June 12, 2023  
• Attachment B – Final Plans and Supporting Documents for PC 23-11 

  



PC 23-11 – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
July 5, 2023 

 

Attachment A 
Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 23-11 

Prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 
Dated June 12, 2023 



Village of Morton Grove
 Department of Community & Economic Development 

To: Chairperson Blonz and Members of the Plan Commission 

From: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator; Anne Ryder Kirchner, Assistant Land Use 
Planner 

Date: June 12, 2023 

Re: Plan Commission Case PC 23-11  
Request for approval of a final plat of subdivision (consolidation) in accordance with the requirements for a 
minor subdivision pursuant to Chapter 12-8 for the property commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 
6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New England Avenue, and property vacated under Cook County document 
number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, Illinois (10-18-321-023-0000, 10-18-321-035-0000, 10-18-321-036-
0000, 10-18-321-047-0000, 10-18-321-048-0000, 10-18-321-049-0000, 10-18-321-050-0000, 10-18-321-
051-0000, 10-18-321-052-0000, 10-18-321-054-0000). The property is zoned C-1 General Commercial. The
applicant is Steve Napleton Automotive Group and 100 West Golf LLC.

STAFF REPORT 
Public Notice 
The Village of Morton Grove provided public notice for the June 20, 2023, Plan Commission public hearing for PC 23-11 in 
accordance with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on June 1, 2023. The 
Village mailed letters on June 2, 2023, notifying surrounding property owners, and placed a public notice sign on the subject 
property on June 2, 2023.  

Application Summary  
Steve Napleton Automotive Group and 100 West Golf LLC (“applicant”) submitted a complete Subdivision Application 
requesting the approval of a consolidation of property at 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, and 8888 New 
England Avenue, and property vacated to 100 West Golf LLC under Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton 
Grove, Illinois (“subject property”). The 4.37-acre property is zoned C-1 General Commercial. The subject property is currently 
improved with three structures and is operated as a motor vehicle dealership by the Steve Napleton Automotive Group. The 
property was formerly owned and operated by Castle Honda but was sold to 100 West Golf LLC, the real estate entity for the 
Steve Napleton Automotive Group, in 2022.  

In 2011, the Village Board approved Ordinance 11-02 authorizing the vacation of part of New England Avenue and adjacent 
alleys to the owner of the Castle Honda site, Churchill Real Estate, LLC. Ordinance 11-01 rezoned the property to be vacated 
from R-2 Single Family Residence to C-1 General Commercial. The plat was printed on Mylar and signed by all necessary 
signatories in 2013 but was not recorded until April 2023, at which point the property was officially vacated and became 
private property. Village staff provided written notice of the vacation to the Cook County Assessor in accordance with Unified 
Development Code requirements.  

The applicant is seeking the Village Board’s approval of a plat of subdivision entitled “Napleton Honda of Morton Grove 
Subdivision” in order to consolidate the subject property, which is under unified ownership and considered one zoning lot 
pursuant to Section 12-17-1, for the purpose of simplifying tax procedures and overall management. The applicant plans to 
redevelop the subject property and construct a new 40,000-square-foot motor vehicle dealership with accessory parking, 
outdoor vehicle storage, and landscape areas. A site improvement permit application is currently under review by staff. The 
Village is not requiring the proposed consolidation of lots and will be able to approve the proposed development by-right with 
minor modifications to meet all applicable code requirements. Staff notes that the Plan Commission is tasked with review of 
the proposed plat of subdivision only, not review of the proposed development.  



PC 23-11  – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
June 12, 2023 

2 

Subject Property Location Map 

Subdivision Review 
A consolidation is reviewed in the same manner and is subject to the same requirements as a subdivision, as established in 
Chapter 12-8, “Subdivisions.” Village Code Section 12-17-1 defines a minor subdivision as any subdivision fronting on an 
existing street, not involving any new street, and not resulting in more than two (2) buildable lots. Because the proposed 
consolidation meets the criteria for a minor subdivision, the proposed plat of subdivision may be approved by the Board of 
Trustees without prior approval of a preliminary plat, pursuant to Section 12-16-4:D.2.a.  

Through the standard permitting process, Building, Fire, and Engineering staff members are working closely with the applicant 
to ensure the proposed development meets all applicable code requirements. No comments were received from the Building, 
Fire, or Public Works Departments regarding this application. 

Because the request for lot consolidation is a legal formality and is not a request for approval of any specific development, 
review by the Traffic Safety Commission and Appearance Commission was not required. The development’s site plan, 
elevations, and landscape plan will be subject to Appearance Commission review and approval prior to the Village’s issuance 
of a permit for vertical construction.  

Subdivision Standards 
The Plan Commission can recommend approval of the application as presented, changes, or denial based on the following 
standards for subdivisions, pursuant to Section 12-16-4:D.3: 

Standards for Subdivisions: The following standards for evaluating subdivisions shall be applied in a reasonable manner, 
taking into consideration the restrictions and/or limitations which exist for the site being considered for development: 

a. Orderly Development: The proposed subdivision will encourage orderly and harmonious development within the
village.



PC 23-11  – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
June 12, 2023 

3 

b. Coordination of Streets: The streets within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with other existing and planned
streets within the village.

c. Coordination of Utilities: The utilities within the proposed subdivision will coordinate with existing and planned
utilities, and create a uniform system of utilities within the village.

d. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan: The proposed subdivision will be evaluated based on its consistency with
the overall land use policies of the village as may be expressed in the village's comprehensive plan.

Recommendation 
Should the Plan Commission approve PC 23-11, staff suggests the following motion and conditions: 

The Plan Commission recommends approval of case PC 23-11, a request for approval of a final plat of subdivision 
(consolidation) in accordance with the requirements for a minor subdivision pursuant to Chapter 12-8 for the property 
commonly known as 8833 Waukegan Road, 6900 Dempster Street, 8888 New England Avenue, and property vacated under 
Cook County document number 2310257013 in Morton Grove, Illinois, subject to the following conditions:  

1. The applicant shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title 12, Chapter 8, regarding the content and submission
of the final plat of subdivision;

2. The applicant shall obtain all necessary signatures and file the final plat of consolidation and all required materials with
the Cook County Clerk, and shall file the original recorded Mylar or a certified copy of the recorded plat with the
Department of Community and Economic Development within 90 days of such recording;

3. The plat of subdivision shall be recorded in accordance with all materials submitted with the application and in
accordance with the requirements of Title 12, Chapter 8;

4. The applicant shall file all necessary plans and applications, for review and approval, and secure all necessary
building permits prior to the commencement of construction.

Attachments 
Application and related materials (submitted by applicant) 



PC 23-11 – Napleton Honda Subdivision 
July 5, 2023 

Attachment B 
Final Plans and Supporting Documents for PC 23-11 

1. Napleton Honda of Morton Grove Subdivision, prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated May 25, 2023
2. A.L.T.A./N.S.P.S. Land Title Survey (3 sheets), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated September 30, 2022
3. Geometric Plan – Phase 1 (Sheet GM1), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated October 23, 2022
4. Geometric Plan – Phase 2 (Sheet GM1), prepared by Spaceco Inc., dated October 23, 2022

Attachment B on file with the Department of Community and Economic Development 


	2 Minutes_12_June 27-2023.pdf
	MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT
	Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President

	11f1d ORD 23-16 EXHIBIT C.pdf
	Departmental Review


